IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19-0725

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellant,

VS.

MICHAEL HILLERY, Defendant-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY THE HONORABLE MONICA ZRINYI WITTIG, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

KATIE KRICKBAUM

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) Katie.Krickbaum@ag.iowa.gov

CJ MAY Dubuque County Attorney

SHEA CHAPIN Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Did the district court err in concluding that both the statements and physical evidence obtained by officers after Hillery agreed to cooperate should be suppressed as the products of an improper promise of leniency?

Authorities

Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279 (1991)

Brady v. U.S., 397 US 742, 90 S. Ct. 1463 (1970)

Bram v. United States, 168 U.S. 532 (1897)

Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157 (1986)

Illinois v. McArthur, 531 U.S. 326 (2001)

Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973)

Sharp v. Rohling, 793 F.3d 1216 (10th Cir. 2015)

United States v. Elie, 111 F.3d 1135 (4th Cir. 1997)

United States v. Guarno, 819 F.2d 28 (2d Cir. 1987)

United States v. Long, 852 F.2d 975 (7th Cir. 1988)

United States v. Patane, 542 U.S. 630 (2004)

United States v. Perdoma, 621 F.3d 745 (8th Cir. 2010)

United States v. Romano, 630 Fed. App'x 56 (2d Cir. 2015)

United States v. Shears, 762 F.2d 397 (4th Cir. 1985)

Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963)

Doornick v. State, No. 18-0429, 2019 WL 1933991

(Iowa Ct. App. May 1, 2019)

In re J.D.F., 553 N.W.2d 585 (Iowa 1996)

State v. Bowers, 661 N.W.2d 536 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Christianson, 607 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Evans, No. 15-0616, 2016 WL 5408303 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 28, 2016)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Hicks, 791 N.W.2d 89 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Hodges, 326 N.W.2d 345 (Iowa 1982)

State v. Howard, 825 N.W.2d 32 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Kase, 344 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Kern, 831 N.W.2d 149 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Lane, 726 N.W.2d 371 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Madsen, 813 N.W.2d 714 (Iowa 2012)

State v. McCoy, 692 N.W.2d 6 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Morgan, 559 N.W.2d 603 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Mullin, 85 N.W.2d 598 (1957)

State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Payton, 481 N.W.2d 325 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Polk, 812 N.W.2d 670 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Quintero, 480 N.W.2d 50 (Iowa 1992)

State v. Smith, No. 13-0993, 2014 WL 3511811 (Iowa Ct. App. July 16, 2014)

State v. Tyler, 867 N.W.2d 136 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Watts, 801 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Whitsel, 339 N.W.2d 149 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Wondergem, No. 98-0721-CR, 2000 WL 665692 (Wis. Ct. App. May 23, 2000)

State v. Zarate, No. 11-0530, 2012 WL 652449 (Iowa Ct. App. Feb. 29, 2012)

U.S. Const. Amend. V

Iowa Const. Art. I §§ 1 and 8

Mark E. Cammack, *The Rise and Fall of the Constitutional Exclusionary Rule in the United States*, 58 Am. J. Comp. L. 631 (2010)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Transfer to the Court of Appeals is appropriate because the issue raised involves the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an interlocutory appeal of the district court's order granting Defendant Michael Hillery's motion to suppress. The Iowa Supreme Court granted the State's application for discretionary review and motion to stay on May 13, 2019.

The district court erred in suppressing both Hillery's statements and physical evidence as a result of what the court improperly concluded was a promise of leniency. Not only does the common law evidentiary rule not apply to physical evidence, officers would have obtained that evidence through other lawful means. Nor is an agreement with a defendant to cooperate, where the defendant is informed that the agreement is conditional, an improper promise of leniency. This Court should reverse the district court's suppression order in its entirety.

Facts and Course of Proceedings Background

In October and November 2018, officers on the Dubuque Drug
Task Force were investigating the sale of drugs out of a house at 1910
½ Ellis Street in Dubuque, Iowa. Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 1; App. 13;
Suppression Hearing Transcript, March 29, 2019 ("Supp. Hr'g Tr.")
7:8-8:9; 21:5-19. Officers had discovered that Carl Watkins—who goes by the street name "Country"—lived in the house, and several confidential informants working with officers had purchased drugs from Watkins at his home. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 7:20-8:11-16.

Around 3:37 p.m. on November 14, 2018, Officer Chad Leitzen was driving by 1910 ½ Ellis Street when he saw Hillery bike up to the house. Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 1; App. 13; Supp. Hr'g Tr. 21:20-22:14; 23:11-19. Officer Leitzen knew of the ongoing investigation into Watkins, and he recognized Hillery as a person with a history of drug convictions. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 21:5-19; 23:6-10; 24:1-8. Not more than three minutes later, Officer Leitzen circled back to 1910 ½ Ellis Street and saw Hillery walk away from Watkins—who had been standing next to Hillery outside the house. Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 1; App. 13; Supp. Hr'g Tr. 22:22-23:4; 23:20-25. Officer Leitzen then saw Hillery

get back on his bike and ride away. Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 1; App. 13; Supp. Hr'g Tr. 22:18-22.

Having seen someone he knew had prior drug convictions engage in a three-minute exchange with a man suspected of selling drugs out of his home, Officer Leitzen believed that an illegal drug transaction had taken place. *See* Supp. Hr'g Tr. 24:9-25:4; 39:2-23. Officer Leitzen waited until he and Hillery were out of Watkins's sight, parked, and then called Hillery by name, asking him to stop and talk. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 25:5-25; 36:12-17; Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 1; App. 13. At this point, Hillery had gotten off his bike and was on the sidewalk, pushing it up a hill. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 25:13-21.

Hillery ignored Officer Leitzen and continued walking. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 25:25-26:3; 36:18-19. The officer got out of his car and began following Hillery, again calling his name and telling him to stop. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 26:3-8; 36:20-24. At this point, Officer Leitzen could "smell a very strong odor of marijuana clearly emanating from" Hillery. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 26:3-7; 26:18-27:4; 37:3-12. Again, Hillery ignored Officer Leitzen and kept walking. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 26:8-9; 36:25-37:2.

Officer Leitzen then walked up beside Hillery, showed Hillery his badge, and identified himself as an investigator with the drug task force. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 26:10-14. Hillery continued to walk, but this time he told the officer that he had "done nothing wrong." Supp. Hr'g Tr. 26:14-15. Officer Leitzen stepped in front of Hillery's bicycle and prevented him from walking any further. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 26:15-17; 37:13-15.

Officer Leitzen told Hillery that Hillery "needed to give [the officer] what he had just bought " Supp. Hr'g Tr. 27:11-12. Hillery denied buying anything; he stated that he had been to the house to repay his coworker, who lived with Watkins at 1910 ½ Ellis Street. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 27:11-14; 16:7-17. Officer Leitzen said that he was certain Hillery had bought something and that Hillery needed to give it to him. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 27:14-16. The officer also told Hillery that he "was not looking to take [Hillery] to jail that day." Supp. Hr'g Tr. 27:16-17; 37:16-22. Officer Leitzen stated that he was looking instead for Hillery's cooperation; officers wanted Hillery's "help to get into" Watkins's house. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 27:17-22. Officer Leitzen did, however, make clear that Hillery could someday be jailed for what he

had just done. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 27:19-22; 29:24; 38:11-18; Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 1; App. 13.

At that point, Hillery reached into his pocket and held something in a balled-up fist. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 27:23-25. Hillery again told the officer that he had not bought anything and had not done anything wrong. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 28:1-3. Officer Leitzen told Hillery to drop what he had in his hand, and Hillery dropped a baggie of crack cocaine weighing 0.3 grams, shoved his bicycle into the officer, and took off running. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 28:4-12; Minutes of Testimony.

Officer Leitzen caught Hillery and reassured him that he could still avoid going to jail that day if he agreed to cooperate. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 28:13-25. Hillery accepted the offer, handed Officer Leitzen a bag of marijuana weighing 4.5 grams, and told officers that he bought the crack and marijuana for a total of \$70.00 at the house at 1910 ½ Ellis Street from a man he knew as Country. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 30:5-31:4; 38:19-39:1; Minutes of Testimony. After exchanging numbers and after Hillery agreed to participate in controlled buys with Watkins, officers allowed Hillery to leave on his bicycle. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 13:16-23; 31:5-25. Hillery was not arrested or charged that day. Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 1; App. 13; Supp. Hr'g Tr. 16:18-17:18.

Charges and Motion to Suppress

On February 28, 2019, however, after deeming Hillery's cooperation inadequate and after he had been charged in a separate drug case, the State charged Hillery for his actions in November with possession of crack, third or subsequent offense; and possession of marijuana, third or subsequent offense, both in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5). Trial Information; App. 4; Supplemental Trial Information; App. 7; Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 1; App. 13; Supp. Hr'g Tr. 15:7-16:2; 32:1-35:3.

Hillery moved to suppress the drugs and his statements, arguing that the officers (1) stopped and detained him in violation of his rights under the United States and Iowa constitutions, and (2) questioned him without the benefit of counsel in violation of his rights under the United States and Iowa constitutions. Motion to Suppress Evidence; App. 9. Two days before the hearing, Hillery filed an addendum to his motion, in which he asked for suppression of "evidence and any confession or statements" he made because they were obtained "after a promise of leniency, in violation of the 5th Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I Sections 1

and 8 of the Iowa Constitution." Addendum to Motion to Suppress; App. 11.

Officer Leitzen and the officer leading the investigation into 1910 ½ Ellis Street, Adam Williams, both testified at the suppression hearing. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 4:22-40:5. Hillery did not testify. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 40:6-8. The State argued that, pursuant to *State v. Kreps*, 650 N.W.2d 636 (Iowa 2002), Officer Leitzen had reasonable suspicion to believe that a crime had just occurred; thus, the stop was constitutional. *See* Supp. Hr'g Tr. 40:13-42:11. As for the alleged promise of leniency, the State argued that the officer's conditional cooperation offer did not amount to a promise that prompted Hillery's confession. *See* Supp. Hr'g Tr. 42:15-21.

Hillery argued that the stop was not warranted under the circumstances and that it was based on assumptions, not reasonable suspicion. See Supp. Hr'g Tr. 42:23-43:18. Hillery then argued that him handing over the crack and marijuana he had just bought was a "de facto confession" and that the fact that Officer Leitzen told Hillery "that he would remain at liberty if he cooperated" rendered that "confession" involuntary. See Supp. Hr'g Tr. 43:19-45:5. For both of those reasons, Hillery argued, the court should suppress "all of the

evidence and any statements" he had made. Supp. Hr'g Tr. 45:3-5.

Neither Hillery nor the State mentioned the common law evidentiary test or any potential *Miranda* violation. *See* Supp. Hr'g Tr. 40:10-45:25.

The district court granted Hillery's motion in a written order.

Order, Apr. 3, 2019; App. 13. In relevant part, the court stated:

The Defendant challenges the arrest based on a violation of his constitutional rights. The specific assertion is that the officer made a promise of leniency that prompted the Defendant to act. His statements were not voluntary.

The Iowa and United States Supreme Courts have held on numerous occasions that an officer's promise of leniency is improper to obtain cooperation or confessions from Defendants. *See State v. Polk*, 812 N.W.2d 670 (Iowa 2012); *Brady v. U.S.*, 397 US 742, 90 S. Ct. 1463 (1970) (... even a mild promise of leniency was deemed sufficient to bar the confession, not because the promise was an illegal act as such, but because defendants at such times are too sensitive to inducement and the possible impact on them too great to ignore and too difficult to assess.).

Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 2; App. 14.

The district court concluded by stating that "[t]he evidence obtained after the promise of leniency was made is fruit of the

poisonous tree and therefore is not admissible against him." Order, Apr. 3, 2019 at 2; App. 14.1

On April 30, 2019, the State moved to reconsider, arguing that (1) the district court retains the ability to correct its erroneous ruling at any time before final judgment; (2) the district court erred in concluding that the drugs were "fruit of the poisonous tree" of any promise of leniency, both because an improper promise of leniency should only result in the suppression of the defendant's *confession*, not physical evidence, and because Officer Leitzen had probable cause and exigent circumstances to seize the crack and marijuana; and (3) the court erred in relying on the decision in *State v. Polk*, 812 N.W.2d 670 (Iowa 2012), which was based on the common law evidentiary test, when Hillery only argued that his confession was involuntary under the Iowa and federal constitutions. Motion to Reconsider; App. 16.

¹ Hillery agrees that the district court "did not rule on the stop and search issue raised in the original Motion to Suppress." Resistance to Application for Discretionary Review (Sup. Ct. No. 19-0725) at 2; App. 35. Nor did the court address any alleged 5th or 6th Amendment violations. *See* Motion to Suppress at 2; App. 10; Order, Apr. 3, 2019; App. 13.

Not wanting to lose the ability to seek an interlocutory appeal of the district court's suppression order, the State applied to this Court for discretionary review before the district court ruled on its motion to reconsider. Application for Discretionary Review and Motion for Stay (S. Ct. No. 19-0725); App. 19. The State did so because it filed its motion to reconsider outside the time provided for in Iowa Rule of Civil Procedure 1.904(3) and, although Hillery did not object to the timeliness of the State's motion and the State believes it would have retained the ability to appeal had it waited—it wanted to ensure there were no jurisdictional problems with challenging the order. In its application for review, the State argued that the district court erred by suppressing both Hillery's statements and the physical evidence following what was a cooperation agreement, not a promise of leniency. See Application for Discretionary Review and Motion for Stay (S. Ct. No. 19-0725), at 5; App. 23.

On May 13, 2019, the Court granted the State's application and stayed proceedings below pending resolution of the appeal. Order (S. Ct. No. 19-0725), May 13, 2019; App. 38. Accordingly, the State will not address the district court's order denying the State's motion to reconsider, which did not come until the day after this Court's stay.

See Order (S. Ct. No. 19-0725), May 13, 2019; App. 38; Order, May 14, 2019. For all the reasons set forth below, this Court should reverse the district court's order suppressing the physical evidence and Hillery's statements.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court erred in suppressing Hillery's statements and the physical evidence in this case because an agreement to cooperate with police officers is not a promise of leniency and because the physical evidence was not the product of any illegality.

Preservation of Error

The district court's ruling on Hillery's motion to suppress preserved this issue for review. *See State v. Naujoks*, 637 N.W.2d 101, 106 (Iowa 2001) ("An adverse ruling on a motion to suppress will preserve error for our review.").

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's ruling on promises of leniency under Iowa's common law evidentiary test for correction of errors at law. *See State v. Polk*, 812 N.W.2d 670, 674 (Iowa 2012). The Court reviews de novo a defendant's constitutional challenge to his confession. *State v. Madsen*, 813 N.W.2d 714, 721 (Iowa 2012). The Court "give[s] deference to the district court's factual findings

because of its ability to assess the credibility of the witnesses, but [it is] not bound by those findings." *Id*.

Merits

A. The Iowa Supreme Court has identified two discrete ways for a defendant to challenge his confession on promissory leniency grounds.

There are two ways for a defendant in Iowa to challenge his confession following what he contends is a promise of leniency. The first is a matter of state evidentiary law, the theory being "[a] coerced confession should not be admitted in evidence because of its inherent lack of reliability." State v. Quintero, 480 N.W.2d 50, 52 (Iowa 1992). The common law evidentiary test, as it is known, "was developed, not as a constitutional principle, but because the law has no way of measuring the improper influence or determining its effect on the mind of the accused." Id.; see also State v. McCoy, 692 N.W.2d 6, 27-28 (Iowa 2005) (citing State v. Mullin, 85 N.W.2d 598, 602-03 (1957)). "The test 'is whether the language used amounts to an inducement which is likely to cause the subject to make a false confession." State v. Howard, 825 N.W.2d 32, 40 (Iowa 2012) (quoting Mullin, 85 N.W.2d at 602).

Unlike the constitutional test for voluntariness described below, the common law evidentiary rule provides for the per se exclusion of any statement a defendant makes following what the court deems to be a promise of leniency. See Howard, 825 N.W.2d at 40 (citing Mullin, 85 N.W.2d at 601). "[A] confession can never be received in evidence where the prisoner has been influenced by any threat or promise." Madsen, 813 N.W.2d at 724 (quotations omitted). According to the Court, a per se exclusionary rule "eliminates the need for the court to attempt to read the mind of defendant to determine if his confession, in fact, was induced by or made in reliance upon the promise of leniency." Id. at 726. The rule also "deters police from using a tactic that might induce the innocent to confess falsely." Polk, 812 N.W.2d at 674; Howard, 825 N.W.2d at 34.

In a string of cases beginning with *State v. McCoy*, the Iowa

Supreme Court reaffirmed the common law evidentiary test.² See, e.g., 692 N.W.2d at 27-28; Madsen, 813 N.W.2d at 724-726; Polk, 812 N.W.2d at 674. Rather than adopt a test consistent with federal authorities, as the State urged, the Court concluded that the evidentiary rule had "the advantage of clarity and [wa]s a better deterrent against police misuse of threats and promises of leniency to obtain confessions." Madsen, 813 N.W.2d at 725-26.

A defendant may also challenge the voluntariness of his confession on due process grounds. *See McCoy*, 692 N.W.2d at 27. Under this totality-of-the-circumstances test, set forth in *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973), the court looks "at 'both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the interrogation" to

² Before *McCoy*, the Court appeared to conflate the two tests, asking whether the defendant's confession was voluntary, but applying an outdated per se exclusionary rule for a promise of leniency. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Kase*, 344 N.W.2d 223, 225 (Iowa 1984); *State v. Hrbek*, 336 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 1983); *State v. Hodges*, 326 N.W.2d 345, 349 (Iowa 1982); *see also In re J.D.F.*, 553 N.W.2d 585, 589-90 (Iowa 1996). These cases relied on *Mullin*, but also on *Brady v. United States*, 397 U.S. 742 (1970), and *Bram v. United States*, 168 U.S. 532, 542-43 (1897), federal cases that had been disavowed in *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 223-227 (1973). Indeed, in *Arizona v. Fulminante*, the United States Supreme Court made clear that the oft-cited passage in *Bram* was no longer the "standard for determining the voluntariness of a confession" 499 U.S. 279, 285-86 (1991).

determine whether the defendant's confession was voluntary. *McCoy*, 692 N.W.2d at 27 (quoting *Schneckloth*, 412 U.S. at 226).

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