IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
)
 Plaintiff-Appellant,)
)
 v.) SUPREME COURT 19-0725
)
 MICHAEL HILLERY,)
)
 Defendant-Appellee.)

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR DUBUQUE COUNTY
HONORABLE MONICA ZRINYI WITTIG, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MARTHA J. LUCEY
State Appellate Defender
mlucey@spd.state.ia.us
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER'S OFFICE
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLEE

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

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

ARGUMENT

I. Investigator Leitzen’s promise not to arrest Hillery resulted in the discovery of the physical evidence. The district court’s order suppressing the controlled substances and Hillery’s statements should be affirmed.

Preservation of Error.

The State’s application for discretionary review preserved error on only two grounds: (1) that physical evidence seized from the defendant is not a fruit of an involuntary statement; and (2) that a defendant’s cooperation agreement does not render statements to police involuntary.¹ (App for Discretionary Review, ¶ 5)(App. p. 23). The State did not preserve error regarding the challenge that the district court’s

¹ The Attorney General’s Office noted that the district court’s decision was based on a claim not raised, but did not assert this as a ground for review. (App for Discretionary Review, ¶¶ 2, 5)(App. pp. 20, 23).

suppression ruling based on common law evidentiary grounds was error because it was not raised below. State brief p. 24-27.

In the district court, Hillery challenged the admissibility of his statement made without benefit of Miranda warnings. (MTS ¶ 11, 12)(App. p. 10). Hillery also challenged his statements were involuntary. (MTS Addendum)(App. pp. 11-12). This Court may affirm on any ground urged by the prevailing party in the district court but not ruled on by the trial court. DeVoss v. State, 648 N.W.2d 56, 62 (Iowa 2002).

Standard of Review.

The Court reviews a constitutional challenge to the admissibility of a confession de novo. The Court reviews for correction of errors at law the district court's ruling on promises of leniency under the common law evidentiary test. State v. Polk, 812 N.W.2d 670, 674 (Iowa 2012).

Discussion.

The Iowa Supreme Court has advised district courts to first employ the evidentiary test.

In Madsen, the Court declined to abandon the common law evidentiary test in favor of the constitutional totality of the circumstances test used by the federal courts. State v. Madsen, 813 N.W.2d 714, 726 (Iowa 2012). The Court noted “the evidentiary rule has the advantage of clarity and is a better deterrent against police misuse of threats and promises of leniency to obtain confessions.” State v. Madsen, 813 N.W.2d at 725. “The use of a per se exclusionary rule eliminates the need for the court to attempt to read the mind of defendant to determine if his confession, in fact, was induced by or made in reliance upon the promise of leniency.” Id. at 726.

The Court directed the district courts to “first employ the evidentiary test to determine the admissibility of confessions challenged on grounds of a promise of leniency.” Id. at 726 n.1. The Court reiterated this direction in Howard. State v. Howard, 825 N.W.2d 32, 39 (Iowa 2012). The district court

merely followed the Supreme Court's direction. There is no basis to reverse the district court on this ground.

Hillery's disclosure of the controlled substances and subsequent confession were induced by improper promises of leniency

Under the evidentiary test, a “ ‘confession can never be received in evidence where the prisoner has been influenced by any threat or promise.’ ” State v. McCoy, 692 N.W.2d 6, 27 (Iowa 2005)(other citation omitted). The Supreme Court in Polk summarized the benefits of the evidentiary test:

We review challenges to confessions based on a promise of leniency under a common law evidentiary test. The defendant's confession is to be suppressed if it follows the officer's improper promise of leniency. We have adopted this exclusionary rule out of concern that “ ‘the law cannot measure the force of the influence used, or decide upon its effect upon the mind.’ ” The exclusionary rule eliminates the need for the court to attempt to read the mind of the defendant to determine if his confession in fact was induced by or made in reliance upon the promise of leniency.

State v. Polk, 812 N.W.2d at 674.

Leitzen's testimony demonstrates that his promises improperly induced Hillery's incriminating action of handing

over the controlled substances and subsequent confession.

Leitzen testified:

[] I told him that I was sure that he bought something, and *he needs to give it to me. Um, I also told him that I was not looking to take him to jail that day. I said, I'm looking more for your cooperation to try and get your help to get into that place. Um, I said, That's not to say that you're not going to go to jail someday for this, but I'm not looking to take you to jail today for it. I just want your cooperation.*

And at that time he reached into his left pants pocket and pulled out his hand, which was a balled-up fist at that time, and, um, as soon as he pulled out his balled-up fist, he again told me that he didn't buy anything, um, and that he didn't do anything wrong. And I held out my right hand underneath his -- his left hand, it was balled in a fist. *I told him he needed to drop what he had in his hand, and at that time, he dropped one, it was just a little plastic baggy of what I clearly recognized to be crack cocaine. ***.*

(Tr. p. 27L8-27L12, 29L13-24)(emphasis added).

I caught him, and I -- as soon as I caught him, he -- he immediately said, *I thought you said I'm not going to jail today. And I said, I told you that I need your cooperation, and you're not going to go to jail today if you start cooperating, but that better happen pretty quickly, because there's officers coming, and I could hear them coming.*

(Tr. p. 28L18-25)(emphasis added). Leitzen promised Hillery

he was not going to jail prior to Hillery producing the cocaine.

Up until that point, Hillery maintained that he had done nothing wrong. (Tr. p. 37L16-p. 38L4).

An officer can tell a suspect that it is better to tell the truth without crossing the line between admissible and inadmissible statements from the defendant. However, the line is crossed “if the officer also tells the suspect what advantage is to be gained or is likely from making a confession.” Under the latter circumstances, the officer’s statements ordinarily become promises of leniency, rendering the statements involuntary.

State v. McCoy, 692 N.W.2d at 28 (other citation omitted).

Leitzen crossed the line. The district court correctly found Hillery’s actions were induced by an improper promise of leniency.

The district court correctly suppressed the physical evidence obtained as a result of Leitzen’s promise of leniency.

Hillery gave Leitzen the crack cocaine based on a promise not to be arrested. All of the evidence obtained flows from Leitzen’s promises. Without the promise, Hillery maintained he had done nothing wrong.

Hillery acknowledges that the reported cases primarily deal with confessions and not physical evidence obtained by the defendant’s admissions induced by a promise. See e.g.

State v. McCoy, 692 N.W.2d 6 (Iowa 2005); State v. Polk, 812 N.W.2d 670 (Iowa 2012); State v. Howard, 825 N.W.2d 32, 39 (Iowa 2012); State v. Madsen, 813 N.W.2d 714 (Iowa 2012). However, the Court addressed the suppression of physical evidence in Kase and In Re J.D.F. State v. Kase, 344 N.W.2d 223 (Iowa 1984); In Re J.D.F., 553 N.W.2d 585 (Iowa 1996).

In Kase, a DCI agent told the defendant that if she told him what she knew about the victim's "death and signed a consent to search her apartment no criminal charges would be filed against her; otherwise, she was told, she would be charged with murder." State v. Kase, 344 N.W.2d 223, 226 (Iowa 1984). After this statement Kase signed a consent to search and made statements to the agent. Id. The Supreme Court determined the statements should have been suppressed. Id. Kase argued that the consent to search her apartment was involuntary for the same reasons as her oral statements. The Court agreed with this contention but the search in question was conducted pursuant to a warrant. Id.

Probable cause for the warrant was independent from “any information which was elicited from statements of the defendant.” Id.

In Re J.D.F. also addressed whether physical evidence should be suppressed based on an officer’s promise of leniency. In Re J.D.F., 553 N.W.2d 585 (Iowa 1996). An officer responded to a report of a juvenile carrying a weapon. When the officer arrived in the area, he observed “what he thought to be a gun sticking out the front of JDF’s pants.” When the officer attempted to investigate, JDF fled. JDF outran the officer. The officer located JDF again and apprehended him. When seized, JDF did not possess a weapon. Id. at 587. JDF denied possessing a gun. Ultimately, the officer “told him that if he showed them its location, he would not take him into custody at juvenile hall nor would he file charges against him.” After this promise, JDF led police to the gun. The officer then took him home and released him to a relative. The County Attorney filed charges

the next day. Id. The Court determined “[t]his appears to be a clear case where JDF’s inculpatory admission was induced by the police promising they would take him home rather than to the juvenile intake center.” Id. at 589. The Court, therefore, concluded, “the inculpatory statements and the act of leading the police to the gun cannot be used as evidence against JDF.” Id. at 590.

The JDF Court next considered whether the physical evidence should have been suppressed. The Court found that it appeared that it was not a case “where the officers’ motivation was to obtain incriminating information from JDF.” Id. Instead the officer’s action was primarily to protect the public from potential harm. Id. The Court also considered that the gun would likely have been discovered without JDF’s assistance. Id. The Court ruled the gun was admissible to prove JDF committed a delinquent act. Id. at 590-91.

In the present case, the officers did not have an independent basis to obtain the physical evidence.² Nor is there a valid public safety exception involved in the present case. Kase and JDF illustrates that where the officer's improper promise of leniency results in production of physical evidence, that evidence is also subject to suppression.

Hillery's complaint is not that the State has violated a cooperation agreement

State confuses Hillery's producing the crack cocaine based on the promise not to be arrested with the subsequent cooperation agreement. State's brief pp. 31-33. Leitzen only told Hillery he wanted his cooperation. (Tr. p. 27L22, p. 28L20-23, p. 29L23-24). Williams later discussed a cooperation agreement with Hillery. (Tr. p. 13L6-p. 15L6, 31L5-25). Williams eventually signed Hillery as an informant. (Tr. p. 15L7-25). The record does not disclose if there was an actual written cooperation agreement, and if so, what the

² Hillery addresses the State's alternative arguments in Division II.

terms of the agreement were. Even if there was a cooperation agreement, this is not what prompted the “confession” of turning over the drugs and admitting to buying it from Watkins. Leitzen’s improper promise of leniency induced Hillery to act. The district court should be affirmed.

The district court may be affirmed on other grounds urged in the district court but not ruled upon.

Hillery’s statements and actions were not voluntary

The issue of voluntariness arises when the court considers whether a defendant provided voluntary consent or voluntarily confessed. Voluntary consent and voluntary confessions have been analyzed under two similar sets of factors. Voluntariness does not differ whether a defendant ultimately consents to a search or confesses to a crime. The nature of voluntariness resides with personal characteristics of the defendant and the pressures exerted by the police.

The United States Constitution requires voluntariness for confessions and consent. The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments require that a confession be voluntary,

controlled by the Fifth Amendment where, “no person ‘shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself.’” Dickerson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 433, 120 S. Ct. 2326, 2330 (2000) (other citation omitted). The Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments require that “consent not be coerced, by explicit or implicit means, implied threat or covert force.” Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 228, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 2048 (1973) (citing Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616, 635, 6 S.Ct. 524, 535 (1886)).

Involuntary statements cannot be used against a defendant at trial. State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435 (Iowa 1983)(citing Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 398, 98 S.Ct. 2408, 2418 (1978)). Involuntary confessions cannot be used because of their “inherent lack of reliability.” State v. McCoy, 692 N.W.2d at 28 (quoting State v. Quintero, 480 N.W.2d 50, 52 (Iowa 1992)). Admission of an involuntary statement in a criminal trial denies the defendant due process and requires reversal. State v. Trigon, Inc., 657 N.W.2d at 441, 445 (Iowa

2003)(citing State v. Davis, 446 N.W.2d 785, 788 (Iowa 1989)).

Voluntariness is dependent upon the circumstances surrounding the defendant. There is no “talismanic definition” of voluntariness. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 224, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 2046 (1973). The court looks to the totality of the circumstances when determining voluntariness for both consent and confessions. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 2047 (1973); United States v. Watson, 423 U.S. 411, 424, 96 S.Ct. 820, 828 (1976). For consent cases, the court ultimately considers whether consent was the product of “duress or coercion, express or implied.” United States v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 557, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 1879 (1980). But see United States v. Watson, 423 U.S. 411, 424, 96 S.Ct. 820, 828 (1976) (considering whether defendant’s will had been overborne). For confession cases, the court ultimately considers “whether a defendant’s will was overborne by the circumstances surrounding the giving of the confession.” Dickerson v. United

States, 530 U.S. 428, 434, 120 S.Ct. 2326, 2331 (2000) (quoting Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 2047 (1973)). There is no meaningful difference between these two inquiries into voluntariness although the language of each inquiry is different. Taken together, the inquiry for voluntariness may be posed as whether a defendant's will was overborne through duress or coercion. No single factor is determinative of a confession's voluntariness. State v. Cullison, 227 N.W.2d 121, 127 (Iowa 1975). The confession must be considered in light of the totality of the circumstances of the defendant's case. Id.

Federal courts have considered various, albeit not exclusive, factors for voluntary consent and voluntary confessions under the totality of the circumstances test. There are many factors considered for voluntary confessions. See Withrow v. Williams, 507 U.S. 680, 694, 113 S.Ct. 1745, 1754 (1993)(factors the court considers for voluntary confessions include police coercion, length of interrogation,

location, continuity of custody, defendant's maturity, defendant's education, defendant's physical condition, defendant's mental health, and advisement of rights while in custody); See also Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226, 93 S.Ct. 2041, 2047 (1973)(additional factors include defendant's age, defendant's intelligence, and use of punishment); United States v. Greer, 566 F.2d 472, 473 (5th Cir. 1978)(additional factors include pattern of interrogation, intervening occurrences, and violation of legal processes); Brown v. Illinois, 422 U.S. 590, 603, 95 S.Ct. 2254, 2262-63 (1975)(additional factors include the temporal proximity between police illegality and the confession, the presence of intervening circumstances, and the purpose and flagrancy of the official misconduct).

Iowa has consistently used the federal factors to determine voluntary confessions. See State v. Smith, 546 N.W.2d 916, 926 (Iowa 1996)(factors the court considers for voluntary confessions include the defendant's age; prior

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